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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00093 
CASE NAME: FELIX THE VS. ZENAIDA MENDOZA 
HEARING ON RENEWED MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES (Anti-SLAPP) 
STRIKE FILED BY IRA RESOURCES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is continued to October 13, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00725 
CASE NAME: INSALACO VS. COCOCO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF 4th Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC’s motion to strike portions of the fourth amended 

complaint is granted as to paragraph 219 and otherwise denied.   

Ocwen seeks to strike various damages alleged in the 17200 claim because none of the 

requested items are allowed under a 17200 claim. (4AC, 219(a) – (d).)  A claim for violations of 

Business and Profession Code section 17200 requires either injunctive relief or restitution. (See, 

Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 

179.) Here, none of the requested items are allowed under section 17200 and the request to 

strike paragraph 219 is granted.  

Ocwen seeks to strike the request for punitive damages. Punitive damages are available 

where fraud is alleged, which is the case here. The request to strike punitive damages is denied. 

 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00725 
CASE NAME: INSALACO VS. COCOCO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 4th Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC’s demurrer to the fourth amended complaint is 

sustained with leave to amend as to Plaintiff Lomax. It is sustained with leave to amend 

as to causes of action 11 and 13 and otherwise overruled as to Plaintiff Insalaco. Plaintiff 

may file and serve a fifth amended complaint by October 13, 2021.  

Ocwen demurs to the following claims against it for the failure to allege sufficient facts 

to state a cause of action: (8) declaratory relief, (9) breach of contract, (10) breach of the 

covenant of good faith and fair dealing, (11) negligence, (12) violation of 12 U.S.C. section 

2061, (13) violation of Business and Profession Code section 17200, (14) negligent / intentional 

misrepresentation and (15) declaratory relief. As to causes of action 9 and 10, Ocwen also 
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demurs on uncertainty grounds despite having previously filed an answer as to those claims. 

(See Ocwen answer filed 7/3/2018.)  

The various claims against Ocwen relate to a contract between Insalaco and Ocwen. 

Plaintiff has not alleged how Lomax has claims against Ocwen and the demurrer related to 

claims by Lomax is sustained with leave to amend. 

Declaratory relief (C/A 8)  

The declaratory relief claim against Ocwen is somewhat muddled as it combines a claim 

for declaratory relief against Ocwen and an entirely separate claim for declaratory relief against 

the other defendants. The claim against Ocwen is that Ocwen has benefited from the litigation 

related to the other defendants in this case and should indemnify Plaintiff for his costs and fees. 

(4AC ¶144.) Plaintiff also alleges that Ocwen has an obligation to assist in this litigation. (4AC 

¶146.)  

Ocwen demurs to the eighth cause of action for declaratory relief, arguing that there is 

no express or implied right to indemnity and therefore, the claim for declaratory relief fails.   

A cause of action for declaratory relief must show “actual controversy relating to the 

legal rights and duties of the respective parties.” (CCP 1060.) “[T]o be entitled to declaratory 

relief, a party need not establish that it is also entitled to a favorable judgment. … ‘A complaint 

for declaratory relief is legally sufficient if it sets forth facts showing the existence of an actual 

controversy relating to the legal rights and duties of the parties under a written instrument or 

with respect to property and requests that the rights and duties of the parties be adjudged by 

the court.’ ” (Ludgate Ins. Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 592, 606; see 

also, Market Lofts Community Assn. v. 9th Street Market Lofts, LLC (2014) 222 Cal.App.4th 

924, 931.) 

Ocwen’s demurrer fails because it has not shown there is no actual controversy 

between the parties. Instead, Ocwen’s demurrer is focused on who would prevail in that 

controversy. The demurrer is overruled.  

Breach of contract (C/A 9) 

Ocwen demurrers to the breach of contract cause of action for the failure to state cause 

of action and for uncertainty.  

Ocwen first argues that the claim is uncertain because it is unclear which contract, or 

which specific provision of the contract, Ocwen is alleged to have breached. The fourth 

amended complaint sufficiently alleges the contract, which starts with the loan agreement that 

Plaintiff Insalaco obtained from Ocwen, Loan #7110105637, and then alleges the various loan 

modifications. (4AC ¶¶151; 17- 71, 153-165, 175, 182-183.) The court also notes that Ocwen 

previously filed an answer to the cause of action in the third amended complaint and thus, it is 
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clear that this cause of action is not uncertain. In addition, any further uncertainty can be 

handled during the discovery process.  

Ocwen also argues that Insalaco has not alleged he performed under the contract and 

has failed to allege breach. The Court disagrees. Insalaco has alleged both his performance (or 

excuse from performance) and Ocwen’s breach. The demurrer is overruled.  

Breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing (C/A 10) 

Ocwen demurrers to the breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing based on the 

failure to state a cause of action and for uncertainty. Ocwen’s demurrer focuses on the inability 

of Ocwen to determine which contract this cause of action is based on. As explained above, this 

argument fails. The demurrer is overruled.  

Negligence (C/A 11) 

“[A]s a general rule, a financial institution owes no duty of care to a borrower when the 

institution's involvement in the loan transaction does not exceed the scope of its conventional 

role as a mere lender of money.” (Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Assn. (1991) 231 

Cal.App.3d 1089, 1096.) 

In Lueras, the court discussed a split among United States Districts Courts with some 

finding that a lender owes no duty of care and others finding that “a lender might owe a borrower 

a duty of care in negotiating or processing an application for a loan modification.” (Lueras v. 

BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 49, 64-65.) After considering the 

Biakanja factors, the court found that a lender did not have a common law duty to offer or 

approve a loan modification. (Id. at 6.) Lueras concluded, however, that a lender did “owe a duty 

to a borrower to not make material misrepresentations about the status of an application for a 

loan modification or about the date, time, or status of a foreclosure sale. The law imposes a duty 

not to make negligent misrepresentations of fact.” (Id. at 68.)  

In Alvarez v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 941, the Court of 

Appeal held that once a lender has agreed to consider a loan modification application, it has a 

duty of care in reviewing that application. (Id. at 945.) The court discussed the Biakanja factors 

at length in reaching this decision. (Id. at 948 -951.) 

In Rossetta v. CitiMortgage, Inc. (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 628, “We do not hold that a duty 

of care arises merely because a lender receives or considers a loan modification application. 

Nor do we hold, as the concurring opinion suggests, that a duty of care may arise solely by 

virtue of the parties' changing relationship. Rather, we conclude that the change in the parties' 

relationship can and should be factored into our application of the Biakanja factors.”  (Id. at 640.) 

In Sheen v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 346, however, the court held 

that a lender does not owe a borrower a tort duty of care during a loan modification negotiation. 

(Id. at 352.) The California Supreme Court granted review in Sheen v. Wells Fargo Bank, 
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N.A. (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 346 on the following issues: “Does a mortgage servicer owe a 

borrower a duty of care to refrain from making material misrepresentations about the status of a 

foreclosure sale following the borrower's submission of, and the servicer's agreement to review, 

an application to modify a mortgage loan?” Although no date has been set for oral argument, it 

seems likely that this case will be heard by the Supreme Court this coming fall or winter. (See, 

Docket in Case No. S258019.)  

The Court finds that there is no absolute bar to finding a duty of care by the lender during 

a loan modification, but instead that the Biakanja factors must be considered when determining 

if there is a duty of care. Here, Plaintiff has alleged that Ocwen exceeded the traditional scope 

of its role as a mortgage servicer by actively soliciting Plaintiff to submit each of the four 

requests for a modification by assuring that Ocwen would work with Plaintiff Insalaco to make 

his mortgage affordable. (4AC ¶199.) These allegations are insufficient to show that Ocwen 

owed a duty of care to the Plaintiffs. The demurrer is therefore sustained with leave to amend 

for Plaintiff to allege additional facts that would show a duty of care by Ocwen.  

Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. section 2061 (C/A 12) 

Plaintiff included a number of claims in this cause of action. If any one of these claims is 

validly alleged and timely, the demurrer to the cause of action must be overruled.  

As to violations of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(m), Plaintiff alleges continuing violations from 

September 2017 through at least April 2021. (4AC ¶210.) Thus, a violation under this section 

would not be time-barred.  

Section 2605(m) states that “Limitations on force-placed insurance charges. All charges, 

apart from charges subject to State regulation as the business of insurance, related to force-

placed insurance imposed on the borrower by or through the servicer shall be bona fide and 

reasonable.”  

Plaintiff alleges that his property was destroyed in February 2017. Plaintiff alleges that 

Ocwen continued to charge Plaintiff for hazard insurance on the property based on rates to 

insure the property “to cover the full value of the property”. Plaintiff also alleges that this was 

unreasonable because the property had little value after February 2017. (4AC ¶210.)  

These allegations are sufficient to allege a claim under 12 USC section 2605(m) and 

therefore the demurrer to the RESPA claim is overruled.  

Business and Professions Code section 17200 (C/A 13) 

Ocwen argues that this claim fails because Plaintiff is limited to injunctive relief or 

restitution and has sought neither here. (See, Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles 

Cellular Telephone Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 179 [prevailing plaintiff limited to injunctive relief 

and restitution].) Here, Plaintiff seeks a number of items in damages for the 17200 claim, but 

none involve restitution or injunctive relief. (4AC ¶219.) The closest item to restitution is that 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   09/29/21 

 
 

- 5 - 

Plaintiff Insalaco “was induced to continue paying on the loan…” and therefore lost the 

opportunity to purchase another property. (4AC ¶219(d).) This request is not one for restitution, 

but one for damages due to a lost opportunity. The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend.  

Negligent / intentional misrepresentation (C/A 14) 

Plaintiff has brought a single claim for negligent / intentional misrepresentation. Ocwen 

argues that this claim is not alleged with the particularity required for fraud and also that the 

claim is barred by the economic loss rule.  

Plaintiff has alleged several specific statements made by Ocwen, including the dates 

they were made and how they were made. (4AC ¶223.) The allegations do not include the name 

of each person making the statements, but sufficient information of each statement is provided 

so that Ocwen will be able to determine who made the statements. In addition, these statements 

were made on behalf of Ocwen, on its letterhead and thus, the allegations are sufficient to show 

that these statements were made with authority from Ocwen. Plaintiff’s allegations are alleged 

with sufficient particularity.  

Defendants also argue that the economic loss rule bars this claim. The economic loss 

rule generally bars claims for tort damages in contract claims involving only monetary damages. 

The economic loss rule does not bar fraud and intentional misrepresentation claims that are 

independent of the breach of contract claims. (Robinson Helicopter Co., Inc. v. Dana 

Corp. (2004) 34 Cal.4th 979, 991.) “When there is a special relationship between a plaintiff and 

a defendant, California law permits recovery solely for economic losses. [Citation.]” (Weimer, 

supra, 47 Cal.App.5th at 364 (review granted and deferred pending a decision in Sheen, see 

Supreme Court case no. S262024).) Thus, under Weimer, the claim for negligent and intentional 

misrepresentations is not barred by the economic loss rule. The demurrer is overruled.  

Declaratory relief (C/A 15) 

Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief against Ocwen “with respect to the rights and duties of 

the parties regarding the mortgage loan….” (4AC ¶231.) Ocwen argues that this claim for 

declaratory relief fails because this claim is based on Plaintiff’s other claims against Ocwen and 

since none of Plaintiff’s other claims are viable this claim also fails. Again, Ocwen’s main 

argument here is about who would prevail on the declaratory relief claim, which is not a proper 

basis for a demurrer to a declaratory relief claim. Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged that he requires 

a declaration of rights regarding the mortgage loan and thus, Plaintiff has allege a claim for 

declaratory relief. The demurrer is overruled. 

 

  



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   09/29/21 

 
 

- 6 - 

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02291 
CASE NAME: MORAN VS. ROUND HILLS COUNTRY CLUB 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY ROUND HILL COUNTRY CLUB, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court continues the hearing on this matter to October 20, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00605 
CASE NAME: IBRAHIM VS. PASTIME FOODS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY PASTIME FOODS, LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 13, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00771 
CASE NAME: GREG HART VS. THOMAS MILWAY 
HEARING ON OSC RE: PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendants / Cross-Complainants Thomas Milway and Megan Hansen’s preliminary 

injunction is granted as follows: 

Greg Hart, Steven Hart, Kristin Hart, Janine Senior, Charles Wilcoxson and Sherry 

Wilcoxson, and anyone acting under their direction and control, are prohibited from: 

1. Performing any construction on or in, placing any obstructions on or in, or otherwise 
modifying any portion of the areas of the property in dispute in this litigation, namely 
the 28’ wide strip of land between 20 Alwin Road and Homestead Avenue, and the 
entirely of the property located at 1000 Homestead Avenue.  

2. Trespassing upon any portion of the property commonly known as1000 Homestead 
Avenue in Walnut Creek, California.  

This injunction does not prohibit Greg Hart and Kristin Hart from constructing or repairing 

a fence along their property line as long as the fence is similar to the one described the 

opposition to this preliminary injunction. Before construction, the attorneys for Harts and 

Defendants / Cross-Complainants shall meet and confer on the location of the fence. If the 

parties cannot agree that location of the fence does not violate this preliminary injunction then 

the parties may appear ex parte (with notice to all sides) and raise this issue with the Court.  

Defendants / Cross-Complainants shall post an undertaking of $1,000.  
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The preliminary injunction does not include a no contact order. If any party believes they 

require such an order they may file a petition for a civil harassment restraining order.  

The Plaintiffs’ request for an order excluding the Defendants / Cross-Complainants from 

using Alwin Road is denied without prejudice. Such a request needs to be brought as its own 

motion.  

Preliminary Injunction Standard  

In deciding whether or not to issue a preliminary injunction, this Court must consider        

“ ‘two interrelated factors,’ specifically, the likelihood that plaintiffs will prevail on the merits at 

trial, and the comparative harm to be suffered by plaintiffs if the injunction does not issue 

against the harm to be suffered by defendants… if it does.” (King v. Meese (1987) 43 Cal.3d 

1217, 1226.) These two showings operate on a sliding scale: “[T]he more likely it is that [the 

party seeking the injunction] will ultimately prevail, the less severe must be the harm that they 

allege will occur if the injunction does not issue.” (Id. at 1227.) Plaintiffs have the burden of 

showing that all elements necessary to support issuance of a preliminary injunction are met. 

(See O'Connell v. Superior Court (2006) 141 Cal. App. 4th 1452, 1481.)  

Probability of Prevailing on the Merits 

Here Defendants / Cross-Complainants seek an order that prevents the Cross-

Defendants from blocking access to Alwin Road along Cross-Complainant’s property line. 

Cross-Complainants have shown a probability of prevailing because it is possible that they will 

be able to prove that they have some right to access Alwin Road. In addition, no party here has 

shown they have a deed giving them ownership of Alwin Road and thus, no party has proven it 

has the right to exclude others from the road.  

Balance of Harms 

The balance of harms here weighs in favor of preserving the status quo while the issues 

surrounding Alwin Road are litigated.  

Considering both the balance of harms and probability of prevailing on the merits, the 

Court finds that an injunction should be issued.  

The issues here are different from the first request for a preliminary injunction, which 

would have required this Court to issue a mandatory injunction ordering Defendants / Cross-

Complainants to remove a fence on their property. Here, the Court is issuing a prohibitory 

injunction that maintains the status quo on an area of land that no one has proven they own.   

Evidence 

Cross-Defendants’ requests for judicial notice are granted.  
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The objection to Granskog’s declaration is overruled.  

Objection to portions of Steven Hart’s declaration in paragraphs 2 and 11 are sustained.  

Objection to portions of Greg Hart’s declaration in paragraphs 9, 10 and 13 are 

sustained. 

 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00981 
CASE NAME: MUNSON VS. THE KROGER CO. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION 
FILED BY BAY AREA WAREHOUSE STORES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s unopposed motions to compel responses, without objections, to its document 
demands, special interrogatories and form interrogatories is granted. Plaintiff is ordered to 
provide responses and responsive documents no later than October 20, 2021. 

 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00981 
CASE NAME: MUNSON VS. THE KROGER CO. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO SPECIAL INTERROGS. (Set 1) 
 FILED BY BAY AREA WAREHOUSE STORES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 7. 
 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00981 
CASE NAME: MUNSON VS. THE KROGER CO. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO FORM INTERROGS. (Set 1) 
FILED BY BAY AREA WAREHOUSE STORES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 7. 
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10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01311 
CASE NAME: ZALUCKY VS. ZALUCKY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 
FILED BY RYAN ALEXANDER ZALUCKY, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendants’ motion for sanctions, and plaintiff’s counter request for sanctions, are both denied. 
 
In May, plaintiff filed a motion for sanctions based on defendants unilaterally cancelling a 
deposition. The motion was premised on defendants’ alleged discovery violation pursuant to 
CCP 2025.430. The court denied the motion. 
 
To even the score, defendants filed the instant motion, pursuant to CCP 128.7, arguing that the 
earlier motion was in bad faith. Not to be outdone, plaintiff objects to the motion and seeks fees 
for having to oppose the motion. Enough. 
 
Code of Civil Procedure 128.7(g) expressly precludes sanctions motions arising out of 
“discovery requests, responses, objections and motions.” Italics added. The current motion is 
not authorized. Both counsel are admonished to stop the unprofessional escalation of 
litigation tactics. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02477 
CASE NAME: RIO VS. WEIS 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY PETER WEIS, LAURA RYDER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion for summary judgment (“MSJ”) filed by defendants Peter Weis and Laura Ryder 
(collectively, “Homeowners”) makes a single argument. Namely, that plaintiff Miguel Del Rio dba 
JODR, Inc. (“Contractor”) cannot prove that he suffered damages, and as such, the breach of 
contract cause of action and the concomitant mechanic’s lien and common count causes of 
action fail. 
 
Legal Standard Applicable to Summary Judgment 

Homeowners contend that this action has no merit because, they say, Contractor cannot 

establish that he suffered any damages as a result of Homeowners’ alleged breach of contract. 

Section 437c(p)(2) of the Code of Civil Procedure supplies the applicable standard here. It says: 

A defendant or cross-defendant has met his or her burden of showing that a 

cause of action has no merit if the party has shown that one or more elements of 

the cause of action, even if not separately pleaded, cannot be established, or that 

there is a complete defense to the cause of action. Once the defendant or cross-

defendant has met that burden, the burden shifts to the plaintiff or cross-

complainant to show that a triable issue of one or more material facts exists as to 

the cause of action … The plaintiff or cross-complainant shall not rely upon the 
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allegations or denials of its pleadings to show that a triable issue of material fact 

exists but, instead, shall set forth the specific facts showing that a triable issue of 

material fact exists. 

The Court examines Homeowners’ contention that Contractor cannot establish the element of 

damages. 

Breach of Contract 

“To prevail on a cause of action for breach of contract, [Contractor] must prove (1) the contract, 

(2) [Contractor’s] performance of the contract or excuse for nonperformance, (3) [Homeowners’] 

breach, and (4) the resulting damage to [Contractor].” (Richman v. Hartley (2014) 224 

Cal.App.4th 1182, 1186; CACI 303.) 

Here, as noted above, the MSJ rests on a single argument: Homeowners’ contention that 

Contractor cannot demonstrate that he was damaged as a result of the purported breach 

of contract. 

The Parties’ Contentions 

Homeowners’ argument is quite simple. They say that the contract called for Contractor to be 

paid $580,800. (Homeowners’ Separate Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (“SSUMF”) 

No. 4.) They say that they already have paid Contractor $612,338. (SSUMF Nos. 8-9.) It follows, 

according to Homeowners, that Contractor cannot have suffered damages, because he already 

has been paid more than he was due under the contract. It is true that Civil Code section 3358 

and Lewis Jorge Construction Management, Inc. v. Pomona Unified Sch. Dist. (2004) 34 Cal.4th 

960, 968 stand generally for this proposition, and Contractor does not appear to dispute the law 

on this point. 

Rather, opposing the MSJ, Contractor argues that the specific amount of damages is a fact 

dispute, inappropriate for resolution on MSJ. Contractor concedes that he was paid $612,338, 

so that baseline fact is not in dispute. (Opp. 4:20-21.) However, Contractor says that various 

change orders, contemplated within the contract, increased the amount he was to be paid and 

result in a total amount due of $766,778. (Opp. 4:1-14.) Accordingly, Contractor argues, he is 

still owed $154,440, even after subtracting the $612,338 he concedes he was paid. (Id.)  

The Court has reviewed the accounting that Homeowners have prepared. It is insufficient to 

warrant summary judgment. There are discrepancies between the change orders included with 

the opposition materials and the accounting Homeowners have prepared. At a minimum, the 

Court cannot tell (at least not sufficiently to end this case here and now) what work was 

completed (the parties dispute this), and what amounts were due. For example, SSUMF No. 5 

says that Contractor did not do finish work. Contractor disputes this. (Contractor Dec. ISO Opp. 

Exs. C1-C7.) Further, there appears to be a fact dispute concerning the applicability of the 

timeliness provision of the contract.  

In their reply, Homeowners argue that Contractor conceded that he only charged for finish work 

reflected in a change order, and say that this demonstrates that he cannot charge the $70,000 

for finish work, because it would be double counting. The Court finds this unpersuasive, at least 

insofar as it purports to resolve the factual dispute concerning finish work. 
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On a separate note, the Court has reviewed the relevant contract (Exhibit A to the Weis 

Declaration). Terms are not defined. For example, “finish work” is not a defined term. Given the 

state of the record, the Court considers it possible that a finder of fact will need to hear evidence 

concerning what was meant by the term “finish work,” and perhaps other terms, as well. No 

party has attempted, as part of their submission on this motion, to define any of these terms; 

this might explain the fact disputes concerning what work was performed and what payments 

are properly due and owing. In any event, the Court does not define any of the contractual terms 

here. The Court merely identifies the lack of definitional clarity as another basis for concluding 

that summary judgment is not warranted. 

Factual disputes exist that cannot be resolved by the Court on a motion for summary judgment. 

While the parties agree that Contractor was paid $612,338, the evidence is in conflict regarding 

the amount Contractor was rightfully due under the contract. The resolution of those issues is 

appropriately left to a finder of fact at a trial. The MSJ is denied. 

 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01075 
CASE NAME: TRACY STARK VS AMERICAN HONDA 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY AMERICAN HONDA 
FINANCE CORP, NICK CAVALLO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendant American Honda Finance Corporation’s Motion for Summary Adjudication is 
granted in its entirety. 
 
Background 
 
 Plaintiff Tracy Stark began her employment with Defendant Honda Finance Corp. in 
1994.   Plaintiff alleges her direct supervisor, Defendant Nick Cavallo, engaged in a pattern 
discrimination, harassment, and disparate treatment of Plaintiff on account of her age and 
perceived disability.  Cavallo showed clear favoritism to another younger employee with same 
job classification, which ostracized Plaintiff. 
 
 Plaintiff went out on medical leave on February 18, 2019 and did not return to work for 
Honda.  
 
Motion 
 
 Defendant Honda Finance Corp. brings this motion for summary adjudication of issues 
on the ground the claims fail as matter of law.  
 
Summary Judgment/Adjudication Standard 
 
               “The motion for summary judgment shall be granted if all the papers submitted show 
that there is no triable issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a 
judgment as a matter of law.” Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c).  “[F]rom commencement to 
conclusion, the party moving for summary judgment bears the burden of persuasion that there is 
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no triable issue of material fact and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  (Aguilar 
v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850.)    
 
   “A defendant bears the burden of persuasion that ‘one or more elements of’ the 
‘cause of action’ in question ‘cannot be established,’ or that ‘there is a complete defense’ 
thereto. (Id., § 437c, subd. (o)(2).)”  (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 
850.)    
 

 Issue No. 1:  Plaintiff’s cause of action for Wrongful Discharge in Violation of 
Public Policy fails because Plaintiff cannot establish she was discharged. 

  
  “The elements of a claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy are (1) an 
employer-employee relationship, (2) the employer terminated the plaintiff's employment, (3) the 
termination was substantially motivated by a violation of public policy, and (4) the discharge 
caused the plaintiff harm.”  (Nosal-Tabor v. Sharp Chula Vista Medical Center (2015) 239 
Cal.App.4th 1224, 1234-1235.)   
 
 Defendant argues Plaintiff’s cause of action for wrongful discharge fails to raise a triable 
issue of fact because Plaintiff’s evidence fails to establish that she was terminated.  Plaintiff 
admits she was never told by anyone at Honda that she was terminated. (UMF No. 23.)  Plaintiff 
relies on hearsay from another former Honda employee that she was terminated.  (UMF No. 
24.)   Also, Plaintiff relies on the fact that after she was released by her doctor to return to work, 
no one from Honda reached out to her and she stopped receiving disability payments.  (UMF 
No. 24, 25.)  Defendant concluded Plaintiff’s evidence of termination is based either on hearsay 
or her assumptions. 
 
  Plaintiff argues that viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, with all 
the inferences drawn from the evidence, there is ample evidence to show a triable issue of fact 
as to whether she was terminated.  The evidence shows that it was Honda’s policy to permit a 
leave of absence for up to twelve months, after which, if the employee fails to return to work, the 
employee is terminated.  Plaintiff declares this policy was given to her when she took her leave 
of absence. (Stark Decl., ¶17, 18; PUMF 39, 40.) When her leave began in February of 2019, 
she received correspondence from Honda’s Human Resource Dept. stating her employment 
would end if leave exceeded one year of consecutive time off. (Stark Decl., Exhibit 1.)  Plaintiff’s 
leave exceeded twelve months, continued to a total of 16 months.  (PUMF No. 43.)  Prior to the 
expiration of 12 months, Honda stopped paying Plaintiff.  (PUMF No. 45.) Also, Plaintiff heard 
from another Honda employee that it was announced at a regional meeting that she would not 
be returning to Honda.  (Stark Depo. 21:17-22:18.) Plaintiff inquired as to the status of her 
employment with Honda, but did not receive a response.  (PUMF No. 52.)  Plaintiff believes her 
employment with Honda ceased in March or February 2020.  (Stark Depo., 21:12-14.)   
 
 In response to Plaintiff’s Opposition, Honda argues that Plaintiff points to nothing 
reflecting the effectuation of this purported policy.  Plaintiff admitted that she never received any 
documentation stating that her employment with Honda had ceased. (UMF No. 23.)   Also, 
claiming she was terminated contradicts her claim that she resigned. 
 
 Defendant’s motion for summary adjudication of Issue No. 1 is granted. There is no 
triable issue of material fact as to whether Defendant Honda terminated Plaintiff’s employment. 
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Plaintiff presented no evidence that Honda effectuated its policy of termination if leave extended 
past twelve months.  A letter dated March 1, 2021, from Honda Financial Services supports 
Honda’s assertion that it did not terminate Plaintiff.  (Plaintiff’s Compendium of Evidence, 
Exh. 6.)  The letter stated that Honda would begin processing Plaintiff’s resignation.  
 
 

 Issue No. 2:  Plaintiff’s Cause of Action for Constructive Discharge Fails Because 
She Cannot Make a Prima Facie Case. 

 
 For constructive discharge action, Plaintiff must plead and the evidence must show: 
“the employer either intentionally created or knowingly permitted working conditions that were so 
intolerable or aggravated at the time of the employee’s resignation that a reasonable employer 
would realize that a reasonable person in the employee’s position would be compelled to 
resign.”  (Turner v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1238, 1251.)  
 
 Defendant argues Plaintiff cannot establish a prima facie case.  First, Plaintiff cannot 
established she resigned.  Secondly, Plaintiff cannot establish her working conditions were 
objectively intolerable.  Finally, Plaintiff failed to notify Honda of the intolerable working 
conditions. 
 
 As to her resignation, Defendants argues Plaintiff never communicated any resignation.  
(UMF No.26.)  Plaintiff references discovery responses served on Defendants about December 
8, 2020 that informed Defendant of her resignation, about nine months after the complaint was 
filed. At the time Plaintiff filed her Complaint on June 17, 2020, she had neither resigned nor 
quit.  
 
 Plaintiff argues that she informed Honda that she had new employment and no longer 
worked for Honda.  She received a letter from Honda’s Human Resources Specialist, dated 
March 1, 2021.  It stated “We have been informed that you are employed with another employer 
and as such, have decided to resign from your position at American Honda Finance 
Corporation. … Your resignation is being processed effective today….”  (Stark Decl., Exhibit 6.)  
Plaintiff states in her declaration that she obtained new employment.  (Stark Decl., 21.)   
 
 Defendant argues that Plaintiff has not raised a triable issue as to her resignation.  The 
discovery responses Plaintiff references and the letter from Honda’s Human Resources all came 
months after the complaint was filed, so at the time of the complaint, Plaintiff had not resigned. 
 
 While the letter from Honda confirming Plaintiff’s resignation came after the complaint 
was filed, it is nevertheless evidence of the fact that Plaintiff had obtained new employment and 
no longer considered herself an employee before the complaint was filed.  Plaintiff has 
submitted evidence sufficient to raise a triable issue of fact as to whether or not she resigned 
from her employment, but that is only one element of her prima facie case. 
 
  Secondly, Defendant argues Plaintiff cannot establish the working conditions were 
intolerable by a reasonable person standard.  (UMF No. 27.)  The entirety of the claim 
supporting intolerable working conditions are: Cavallo makes approximately a dozen comments 
in two years that Plaintiff was the most senior or tenured employee; announced her birthdays 
and work anniversaries—along with other employees at regional meetings; Cavallo would ask if 
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everything was “ok’; shared his schedule with the younger employee in the same position as 
Plaintiff, but not Plaintiff; Cavallo once stated that he believed Plaintiff’s former position, which 
she was no longer in as of April 2018, did not have value; and Cavallo expressed his belief that 
Plaintiff was suffering for Alzheimer’s disease.  (UMF No. 27.) Defendant argues these trivial, 
isolated, and sporadic events did not rise to the level of “intolerable” conditions.   
 
 Defendant argues that Plaintiff admitted that Cavallo’s conduct did not impact her job 
performance.  (UMF No. 29.)  Plaintiff disputes this fact, pointing to a portion of her deposition 
that Cavallo’s conduct made her job performance more difficult.  (Defendant’s Evidence, Exh. 2, 
Stark Depo. 80:8-10,)   Plaintiff argues a question of fact remains as to whether the working 
conditions were intolerable.   
 
  “The conditions giving rise to the resignation must be sufficiently extraordinary and 
egregious to overcome the normal motivation of a competent, diligent, and reasonable 
employee to remain on the job to earn a livelihood and to serve his or her employer. The proper 
focus is on whether the resignation was coerced, not whether it was simply one rational option 
for the employee."  (Casenas v. Fujisawa United States (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 101, 113.)  
“‘[A]dverse working conditions must be unusually 'aggravated' or amount to a 'continuous 
pattern' before the situation will be deemed intolerable.’ [Citation.]”  (Casenas at p. 114.)  “The 
essence of the test is whether, under all the circumstances, the working conditions are so 
unusually adverse that a reasonable employee in plaintiff's position ‘would have felt compelled 
to resign.’” (Turner v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1238, 1247.) 
 
 “Although situations may exist where the employee's decision to resign is unreasonable 
as a matter of law, ‘[w]hether conditions were so intolerable as to justify a reasonable 
employee's decision to resign is normally a question of fact. [Citation.]’ [Citation.]” (Vasquez v. 
Franklin Management Real Estate Fund, Inc. (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 819, 827.)  Here, 
Defendant has submitted evidence that Plaintiff cannot establish the conditions were not so 
intolerable as to force Plaintiff to resign.  Plaintiff’s evidence does not raise a triable issue of fact 
as whether a reasonable employee under these conditions would be forced to resign.  
 
 Finally, Defendant argues that Plaintiff never expressed any displeasure with Cavallo to 
anyone at Honda.  (UMF No. 28.)  In Response, Plaintiff argues that she clearly informed Honda 
of the intolerable working conditions in February of 2020 and Honda took no action.  (PUMF 
Nos. 58, 59.)  In her declaration, Stark states that during her first performance review conducted 
by Cavallo, she felt that the rating and feedback were inconsistent with Honda’s policies. She 
submitted her comments, but they were ignored.  Therefore, she felt she had no meaningful 
opportunity to lodge complaints regarding Cavallo’s behavior.  (Stark Decl., ¶ 9.)   
 
 “An employer's actual knowledge of the existence of such conditions, and subsequent 
failure to remedy them, may constitute circumstantial evidence that the employer deliberately 
forced the employee to resign.”  (Turner v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1238, 1249. 
The only evidence that Plaintiff points to support her claim that she informed Honda of the 
conditions was the February 14, 2020 letter.  But the letter came almost a year after she had 
been on leave.  Also the letter indicates that it was a good faith attempt to settle the matter for 
Plaintiff’s claims, including her claim for constructive discharge.  The timing of the letter 
indicates Plaintiff was informing Honda after she considered herself constructively discharged.  
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Plaintiff failed to raise a triable issue of fact as to whether Honda had knowledge of the 
“intolerable” working conditions. 
 
 Defendant’s motion for summary adjudication of Plaintiff’s claims for constructive 
discharge is granted. 
   

 Issues 3 and 4:  Plaintiff’s Disparate Treatment/Disability and Age Discrimination 
Claims Fail Because She Cannot Make a Prima Facie Case 

 
 Defendant argues that under the three-stage burden shifting analysis set forth in 
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green (1973) 411 U.S. 792, Plaintiff cannot make a prima facie 
case.  California has adopted the three-stage burden-shifting test for trying claims of 
discrimination and retaliation established by the United States Supreme Court in McDonnell 
Douglas Corp. v. Green, supra, 411 U.S. 792. (See Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc. (2000) 24 
Cal.4th 317, 354.) If the plaintiff satisfies this prima facie burden at trial, a presumption of 
discrimination arises, and the defendant must put forth a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason 
for its actions. (Guz, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 355.) If the defendant does so, the plaintiff must 
then rebut these nondiscriminatory reasons with evidence of pretext.  
 
 Plaintiff bears the initial burden of making a prima facie case.  “Generally, the plaintiff 
must provide evidence that (1) he was a member of a protected class, (2) he was qualified for 
the position he sought or was performing competently in the position he held, (3) he suffered an 
adverse employment action, such as termination, demotion, or denial of an available job, and (4) 
some other circumstance suggests discriminatory motive.”  (Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc. (2000) 
24 Cal.4th 317, 355.)    
 
 A defendant employer's motion for summary judgment slightly modifies the McDonnell 
Douglas order. The employer meets its initial burden in two ways:  it may present admissible 
evidence either that one or more of plaintiff's prima facie elements is lacking or it may 
demonstrate that the adverse employment action was based on legitimate, nondiscriminatory 
factors.  (Caldwell v. Paramount Unified School Dist. (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 189, 203.)  “If the 
employer presents admissible evidence either that one or more of plaintiff's prima facie 
elements is lacking, or that the adverse employment action was based on legitimate, 
non[retaliatory] factors, the employer will be entitled to summary judgment unless the plaintiff 
produces admissible evidence which raises a triable issue of fact material to the defendant's 
showing.” (Bareno v. San Diego Community College Dist. (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 546, 561.)  
 
 Here, Defendant moves for summary adjudication on the ground Plaintiff cannot 
establish a prima facie case.  Particularly, Plaintiff cannot show an adverse employment action.  
    
 Plaintiff argues she was subjected to multiple adverse employment decisions, including a 
constructive discharge.  Cavallo remarked that her job was “worthless.”  He repeatedly made 
references to her age.  Other adverse actions include Defendant Cavallo moved Plaintiff’s desk 
to the far end of the office; Cavallo did nothing to address Plaintiffs’ complaints regarding her co-
worker, Kemple; Cavallo invited Plaintiff’s direct reports to communicate directly with Cavallo, 
instead of Plaintiff; and Cavallo made references that Plaintiff suffered from Alzheimer’s 
disease.  Plaintiff argues that based on the totality of circumstances of Plaintiffs’ work 
environment, the Court may find adverse employment action.  “‘[T]here is no requirement that 
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an employer's [discriminatory] acts constitute one swift blow, rather than a series of subtle, yet 
damaging injuries.’ [Citation.]” (Horsford v. Board of Trustees of California State 
University (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 359, 374.) 
 
 Plaintiff is correct in one respect. “Adverse employment action is not limited to "ultimate" 
employment acts, such as a specific hiring, firing, demotion, or failure to promote decision.” 
(Akers v. County of San Diego (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 1441, 1455.)  However, “A change that is 
merely contrary to the employee's interests or not to the employee's liking is insufficient. 
Requiring an employee to prove a substantial adverse job effect ‘guards against both 'judicial 
micromanagement of business practices,' [citation] and frivolous suits over insignificant slights.’ 
(Ibid.) “Absent this threshold showing, courts will be thrust into the role of personnel officers, 
becoming entangled in every conceivable form of employee job dissatisfaction. (Ibid.) 
 
 Plaintiff failed to submit evidence to raise a triable issue of fact as to whether she 
experienced a substantial adverse job effect.  Defendant’s motion for summary adjudication is 
granted.  Plaintiff cannot establish one or more elements of prima facie case for disparate 
treatment based on age.   
 

 Issue 5:  Plaintiff’s Harassment (Hostile Work Environment) Claim Fails Because 
Plaintiff Cannot Establish any Severe or Pervasive Conduct 

 
 Defendant moves for summary adjudication on the ground Plaintiff cannot establish 
Defendant’s conduct was sufficiently severe or pervasive to support the claim for hostile work 
environment. The elements of a prima facie claim for age discrimination on a hostile work 
environment theory are:  (1) plaintiff was at least 40 years old (Gov. Code, § 12926, subd. (b)), 
(2) plaintiff was subjected to unwelcome harassment based on age, (3) the harassment 
complained of was sufficiently severe and pervasive to alter the conditions of employment and 
create an abusive working environment, and (4) respondeat superior. (See Fisher v. San Pedro 
Peninsula Hospital (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 590, 608. Fisher involvement sexual harassment.) 
 
 ”In determining what constitutes ‘sufficiently pervasive’ harassment, the courts have held 
that acts of harassment cannot be occasional, isolated, sporadic, or trivial, rather the plaintiff 
must show a concerted pattern of harassment of a repeated, routine or a generalized nature.”  
(Fisher v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 590, 610.) 
 
 Here, Defendant argues the entirety of Plaintiff’s allegations are:  Cavallo made 
comments that Plaintiff was the most senior/tenured employee at Honda; Cavallo announced 
Plaintiffs’ birthdays and work anniversaries (along with others); Cavallo stated he believed her 
former position had no value; Cavallo asked whether she was “OK” on a regular basis; and one 
time inquired whether she was suffering from Alzheimer’s disease. (UMF No. 31.)   
 
 Defendant argues that as a matter of law, Plaintiff has not alleged facts to establish a 
work environment that “would have interfered with a reasonable employee's … work 
performance and would have seriously affected the psychological well-being of a reasonable 
employee.” (Serri v. Santa Clara University (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 830, 871.)  Plaintiff admits 
that Cavallo’s comments did not affect her job performance.  (UMF No. 8.)   
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 Plaintiff argues Defendant’s actions were severe and pervasive.  The totality of the 
circumstances must be addressed. Plaintiff’s manager, Cavallo, made numerous references to 
Plaintiff’s age, implied that something was wrong with Plaintiff, and directly accused her of 
suffering from Alzheimer’s disease. Plaintiff was then marginalized in favor of her younger peer. 
The conduct escalated to the point Plaintiff’s physician placed her on medical leave.  Plaintiff 
argues that whether Defendant’s actions were severe and pervasive is a question for a jury.  
Plaintiffs argues that she has met her burden of production. When the facts are viewed in the 
light most favorable to Plaintiff, Plaintiff was subjected to severe and pervasive conduct by 
Defendant. 
 
 Defendant argues that Plaintiff failed to raise a triable issue of fact.  Defendant argues 
Plaintiff’s evidence fails to show severity or pervasiveness. With reference to birthdays and 
anniversaries, it is undisputed that Plaintiff’s birthdate was announced with others, she was not 
singled out or ostracized. Plaintiff’s actual age was not mentioned.  Plaintiff admits that prior 
regional managers had made similar employee anniversary acknowledgements. As to the 
comment that her position had no value, Defendant argues this is not evidence of animus based 
on Plaintiff’s age, nor is moving Plaintiff’s desk. Defendant argues that at most, Plaintiff has 
demonstrated nothing more than a subjectively hostile work environment.  Defendant also 
contends Plaintiff’s litany of complaints, grievances, slights, and annoyances were first raised 
after her own performance was questioned.  (UMF Nos. 17-18.) 
 
 "Conduct that is not severe or pervasive enough to create an objectively hostile or 
abusive work environment -- an environment that a reasonable person would find hostile or 
abusive -- is beyond Title VII's purview."  (Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs. (1998) 523 
U.S. 75, 81.)  “California courts have adopted the same standard in evaluating claims under the 
FEHA.”  (Aguilar v. Avis Rent A Car System, Inc. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 121, 130.)  “‘The plaintiff 
must prove that the defendant's conduct would have interfered with a reasonable employee's 
work performance and would have seriously affected the psychological well-being of 
a reasonable employee and that she was actually offended.’ [Citation.]”  (Aguilar v. Avis Rent A 
Car System, Inc. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 121, 130-131.)  “Recently, the high court observed that it 
had ‘made it clear that conduct must be extreme to amount to a change in the terms and 
conditions of employment…’ [Citation.]”  (Aguilar v. Avis Rent A Car System, Inc. (1999) 21 
Cal.4th 121, 130.) 
 
 Here, Plaintiff admits the Cavallo’s age-related comments did not affect her job 
performance.  (UMF No. 8.)  Plaintiff’s evidence failed to raise a triable issue of fact that a 
reasonable person would find the conduct severe and pervasive enough to interfere with the 
work performance or amount to a change in the terms of employment.  The motion for summary 
adjudication is granted. 
 

  Issue 6:   Plaintiff’s intentional infliction of emotional distress claim fails as a 
matter of law because Plaintiff cannot establish she was subjected to outrageous 
conduct 

 
 “The elements of a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress are (1) 
the defendant engages in extreme and outrageous conduct with the intent to cause, or with 
reckless disregard for the probability of causing, emotional distress; (2) the plaintiff suffers 
extreme or severe emotional distress; and (3) the defendant's extreme and outrageous conduct 
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was the actual and proximate cause of the plaintiff's extreme or severe emotional distress.” 
(Ragland v. U.S. Bank National Assn. (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 182, 204.) “[O]utrageous conduct 
is conduct that is intentional or reckless and so extreme as to exceed all bounds of decency in a 
civilized community.” (Ibid.) 
 
 Defendant moves for summary adjudication on the ground there is no evidence Cavallo’s 
conduct was so extreme as to exceed all bounds of that usually tolerated in a civilized 
community.  “Liability ‘does not extend to mere insults, indignities, threats, annoyances, petty 
oppressions, or other trivialities . . . .’ [Citation.]”  (Agarwal v. Johnson (1979) 25 Cal.3d 932, 
946.) 
 
  Plaintiff opposes the motion on the ground that whether conduct is outrageous is usually 
a question of fact.  (Bock v. Hansen (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 214, 235.) “Behavior may be 
considered outrageous if a defendant (1) abuses a relation or position which gives him power to 
damage the plaintiff's interest; (2) knows the plaintiff is susceptible to injuries through mental 
distress; or (3) acts intentionally or unreasonably with the recognition that the acts are likely to 
result in illness through mental distress….” (Molko v. Holy Spirit Assn. (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1092, 
1122 internal quotation marks omitted.) 
 
 Here, Plaintiff argues Cavallo was Plaintiff’s work supervisor, whose calculated behavior 
continued even after Plaintiff asked him to stop doing so.  As a result, she suffered extreme 
emotional distress. 
 
  While the issue of whether the behavior is extreme and outrageous is usually a question 
of fact--that is not the case here.  Plaintiff’s own evidence does not raise a triable issue of fact 
as to whether Defendant’s conduct was extreme and outrageous.  Plaintiff’s evidence shows 
Cavallo told her that the position was “worthless,” (PUMF 3) moved her desk away from 
Cavallo’s (PUMF 4), referred to her as the most senior associate and “old school” (PUMF 6,10), 
and announced her birthday and anniversary at regional meetings, (PUMF 11). Cavallo 
displayed hostility toward Plaintiff from the outset (PUMF 23), Cavallo would communicate 
policy directives and agendas to Plaintiff’s younger peer, but not her (PUMF No. 26), Plaintiff 
was left without necessary information to perform her job (PUMF 28), Cavallo instructed 
employees that Plaintiff managed to take issues directly to him (PUMF 32), and Cavallo asked 
Plaintiff if she was “alright” (PUMF 33) and whether she had Alzheimer Disease (PUMF 37.)   
 
 As a matter of law, Plaintiff’s evidence does not establish extreme and outrageous 
conduct.  Furthermore, there is no evidence of Defendant Honda’s conduct and no evidence 
that Honda ratified the conduct.  Defendant’s motion for summary adjudication is granted. 
 

 Issue 7:    Plaintiff’s unfair business claim fails as a matter of law 
 
 Plaintiff dismissed her cause of action under Business and Professions Code § 17200 on 
August 30, 2021. 
 

 Issue 8:    Plaintiff’s request for punitive damages fails as a matter of law 
 
 Defendant moves for summary adjudication on the ground there is no clear and 
convincing evidence Defendant Honda’s conduct was malicious, fraudulent or oppressive.  
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Nor can Plaintiff present any evidence that Honda’s employees involved in the alleged 
discriminatory conduct were “managing agents” who had authority to establish corporate policy.  
(White v. Ultramar (1999) 21 Cal.4th 563, 576-577.) 
 
 Plaintiff argues she has produced evidence that Honda ratified Cavallo’s conduct. Honda 
took no action to discipline Cavallo.  
 
 “The law does not favor punitive damages, granting them only in the most outrageous 
cases.”  (Egan v. Mut. of Omaha Ins. Co. (1979) 24 Cal.3d 809, 828.) “They are only allowed in 
the clearest of cases.” (Ibid.)  California Civil Code provides: 

 
 (b) An employer shall not be liable for damages pursuant to subdivision 
(a), based upon acts of an employee of the employer, unless the employer had 
advance knowledge of the unfitness of the employee and employed him or her 
with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others or authorized or 
ratified the wrongful conduct for which the damages are awarded or was 
personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice. With respect to a corporate 
employer, the advance knowledge and conscious disregard, authorization, 
ratification or act of oppression, fraud, or malice must be on the part of an officer, 
director, or managing agent of the corporation. (Emphasis added.) 
 

  Here, Plaintiff has not provided any evidence that an officer, director, or managing agent 
of the corporation ratified the offending conduct before.  The motion for summary adjudication 
is granted.  
 
Defendant’s objection to Evidence 
 
 Defendant object to the following in the Declaration of Tracy Stark. 
 

1. Paragraph 7:  Misstate deposition testimony.  (Stark Depo., 60:24-61:2.)  Sustained. 
 

2. Paragraph 13:  Lacks foundation.  Declarant does not state how she has personal 
knowledge of these issues.  Overruled. 

 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02157 
CASE NAME: FITNESS INTERNATIONAL VS. NATIONAL RETAIL 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY NATIONAL RETAIL PROPERTIES, LP 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Landlord National Retail Properties, LP (“National Retail” or “landlord”) demurs to the 
first cause of action in the Second Amended Complaint filed by its tenant, Fitness International, 
LLC (“Fitness International” or “tenant”). The demurrer is sustained. Because tenant has not 
provided specific facts that would address the deficiencies discussed herein, this ruling is 
without leave to amend. An answer must be filed and served on or before October 12, 2021. 
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If tenant timely contests this ruling, counsel shall appear at the hearing prepared to 
discuss any additional facts that could be added to the complaint to cure the issues herein.  

Meet and Confer 

Landlord’s counsel’s efforts to meet and confer before filing this demurrer were 
insufficient. Counsel failed to engage in such efforts “in person or by telephone.” (Code Civ. 
Proc., §430.41(a).) However, failure to meet and confer in compliance with the statute is not a 
permissible basis for either sustaining or overruling a demurrer. Given the improbability that 
meeting and conferring in the correct format would change the results here, the Court proceeds 
with its ruling. 

Background 

In sum, the plaintiff here, Fitness International, contends it is excused from paying rent 
during the restrictions placed upon its business operations during the pandemic. Tenant also 
contends that demands for rent by its landlord, National Retail, despite Covid restrictions, are a 
breach of the Lease since tenant did not have “full use and enjoyment” of the premises during 
the restrictions.  

After the Court sustained a demurrer by National Retail to Fitness International’s breach 
of contract cause of action, a Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) was filed on June 16, 2021, 
again alleging breach of contract, among other causes of action.  

Tenant’s changes to the complaint include quoting certain portions of the lease (see, 
e.g., SAC ¶15), clarifying that it has only ever used the premises for operation of a health and 
fitness facility (SAC ¶16.), and alteration of some phrasing (compare FAC ¶38 [“Tenant's ability 
to use the Premises and operate its business from the Premises is a condition precedent to its 
obligation to pay Rent”] with SAC ¶40 [“Landlord's compliance with its representations, 
warranties and covenants in the Leases is a condition precedent to Tenant's obligation 
to pay Rent.”]) 

The SAC states, “Landlord is in breach of the representations, warranties and covenants 
by Landlord to Tenant in the Lease, including those that provide (a) Tenant shall have the right 
throughout the term of the Lease to use the Premises and operate its health club and fitness 
facility business from the Premises, and (b) Tenant shall, throughout the entire term of the 
Lease, have full, quiet and peaceful possession and enjoyment of the Premises.” (SAC ¶61.)  

Landlord filed the instant demurrer to the breach cause of action on the grounds that it 
continues to fail to state sufficient facts. Tenant opposes the demurrer, arguing that it has 
sufficiently alleged a breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment.  

Discussion 

To plead a breach of contract, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the existence of the contract, 
(2) plaintiff's performance or excuse for nonperformance, (3) defendant's breach, and (4) the 
resulting damages to the plaintiff. (Oasis West Realty, LLC v. Goldman (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 
821.) “While the ‘allegations [of a complaint] must be accepted as true for purposes of 
demurrer,’ the ‘facts appearing in exhibits attached to the complaint will also be accepted as true 
and, if contrary to the allegations in the pleading, will be given precedence.’” (Brakke v. 
Economic Concepts, Inc. (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 761, 767; see Alphonzo E. Bell Corp. v. Bell 
etc. Synd. (1941) 46 Cal.App.2d 684, 691 [“All these conclusions of the pleader are contrary to 
the express terms of the instrument … which is pleaded in full and made a part of the complaint” 
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and “[u]nder these circumstances the court will, in hearing on the demurrer, examine the 
exhibits and treat the pleader's conclusions as surplusage.”].) 

The revisions to the complaint do not change the terms of the agreement between the 
parties, which is attached to the SAC as Exhibit A. Nothing in that agreement states the ability to 
use the premises as a health and fitness facility was a condition precedent to paying rent, as 
tenant argues. Parties agreed that payment would commence independent of whether tenant’s 
business was open. (See Lease, Ex. A to SAC, at §5.2.)  

Tenant attempts to distinguish National Pavements Corp. v. Hutchinson Co. (1933) 132 
Cal.App. 235 on the grounds that it did not involve a lease and therefore did not address the 
covenant of quiet enjoyment. Tenant argues that case was “an attempt to hold a defendant 
vicariously liable for governmental conduct, while here Tenant seeks to hold Landlord directly to 
account for the Landlord's Promises.” Tenant’s argument is that violation of the covenant of 
quiet enjoyment need not be based on acts committed by landlord, and that an act by landlord is 
“irrelevant” to whether the covenant of quiet enjoyment has been breached. (See Opposition, 
16:22-23.)  

The authorities addressing leases do not support tenant’s position. “[E]very lease 
contains an implied covenant of quiet enjoyment, whereby the landlord impliedly covenants that 
the tenant shall have quiet enjoyment and possession of the premises.” (Andrews v. Mobile Aire 
Estates (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 578, 588, citations omitted.) But a review of Andrews and other 
cases involving interference with use by someone other than the landlord demonstrates limits to 
what a landlord can promise. Parties found to be interfering with the covenant are generally 
agents of landlord, or other tenants leasing from the same landlord. (See, e.g., Andrews, supra, 
125 Cal.App.4th at 588 [explaining that the covenant “insulates the tenant against any act or 
omission on the part of the landlord, or anyone claiming under him, which interferes with a 
tenant's right to use and enjoy the premises […]”]; Lee v. Placer Title Co. (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 
503, 512, citing Petroleum Collections Inc. v. Swords (1975) 48 Cal.App.3d 841, 846-847; Nativi 
v. Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 261, 292 [discussing landlord 
intent in interfering with quiet enjoyment by tenant].)  

Section 27.2 of the lease here is entitled “Quiet Enjoyment,” and states that landlord 
“covenants and warrants that Tenant shall have and enjoy full, quiet, and peaceful possession 
[…].” Because the language of a contract is construed so as not to result in an absurdity (Civ. 
Code, § 1638), this language cannot be construed as guaranteeing that no pandemic will occur, 
or that government restrictions will not interfere with use of the premises.  

The landlord here did not cause the closures. This case is distinguishable from those 
where a landlord violates the covenant through its own interference, or that of its tenants.  

The demurrer is sustained to the first cause of action, without leave to amend. 
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14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02157 
CASE NAME: FITNESS INTERNATIONAL VS. NATIONAL RETAIL 
HEARING ON APPLICATION TO APPEAR PRO HAC VICE 
FILED BY A. GRANT PHELAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed application for Grant Phelan to appear as plaintiff’s counsel pro hac vice is granted. 

 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02307 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. LIBERTY MUTUAL GROUP 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY PROTECTIVE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 13, 3021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02307 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS LIBERTY MUTUAL GROUP 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY LIBERTY MUTUAL GROUP, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 13, 3021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00077 
CASE NAME: PANJABI VS. SAN RAMON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION 
FILED BY SAN RAMON VALLEY FIRE PROTECTION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s motions to compel responses to document demands and form interrogatories, and 
for sanctions, is granted.  
 
Plaintiff opposed the motions, claiming plaintiff had recently been ill but could now comply with 
the requests. Plaintiff anticipated having the responses filed before the hearing date. It does not 
appear that the responses have been filed. Accordingly, plaintiff is ordered to provide 
documents and responses without objections no later than October 15, 2021. 
 
Even if plaintiff belatedly served responses before this tentative ruling posts, sanctions are 
warranted. Defendant was forced to file two motions to spur action on the discovery. Plaintiff is 
ordered to pay defense counsel sanctions in the amount of $2,000 by October 15, 2021. 
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18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00077 
CASE NAME: PANJABI VS. SAN RAMON VALLEY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO FORM INTERROGS. (Set 1) 
FILED BY SAN RAMON VALLEY FIRE PROTECTION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 17. 
 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00127 
CASE NAME: MARIA JOHNSON VS. HYUNDAI MOTOR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL BINDING ARBITRATION 
FILED BY HYUNDAI MOTOR AMERICA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 20, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00885 
CASE NAME: LOPEZ VS. KHAWAJA, ET AL. 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY DOORDASH, INC., 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 13, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00885 
CASE NAME: LOPEZ VS. KHAWAJA, ET AL. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY DOORDASH, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 13, 3021 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

22.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-01155 
CASE NAME: AUSTIN VS. ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY KIE-CON, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 The demurrer to the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) filed by defendant Kie-Con, Inc. 

(“KCI”) is overruled.  KCI shall file and serve its Answer on or before October 13, 2021. 

Background 
 
This is an action for race discrimination and retaliation against defendants Robert Half 
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International and KCI.  Robert Half has answered, but defendant KCI demurs, arguing that all 
four counts fail to state a cause of action, are uncertain, and mis-join parties.  The thrust of 
KCI’s argument is that the FAC fails to allege facts sufficient to support the allegation that KCI 
was plaintiff’s employer.  (See FAC, ¶ 13, 20, 29, 35, 41.) 

 
Plaintiff argues the FAC sufficiently alleges an employee/employer relationship between 

herself and KCI, and that her failure to formally allege that she was jointly employed by both 
defendants does not render the FAC defective.  The court agrees.   

 
Discussion 
 
The FAC alleges the following.  Austin worked for Robert Half, a staffing agency.  (FAC, 

¶ 10.)  Half assigned her to KCI.  (¶ 11.)  Plaintiff was employed at KCI and was the only black 
employee there.  (¶ 13, 20, 21.)  Discriminatory comments were made to her based on her race.  
(¶ 14.)  Further, she was hired as an administrative assistant, but KCI had her do janitorial work.  
She was mocked about this by coworkers, who said she was doing “slave work.”  (¶ 14.)  Austin 
reported this treatment to Robert Half.  (¶ 15.)  That very same day, KCI terminated her.  (¶ 16.)   

 
In a separate cause of action for failure to prevent race discrimination against both 

defendants, plaintiff alleges that she was employed at Robert Half from October 11, 2018 to 
February 15, 2019, and by KCI from January 23, 2019 to February 15, 2019.  (¶ 28, 29.)   

 
Finally, in a separate cause of action for retaliation against both defendants, plaintiff 

alleges that at all relevant times she was an employee of both defendants.  (¶ 41.)   
 
Employees of staffing agencies can also be considered employees of those agencies’ 

clients for purposes of anti-discrimination laws. (See Mathieu v. Norrell Corp. (2004) 115 
Cal.App.4th 1174, 1183 (“In the context of an individual who is employed by a temporary agency 
and assigned to work on the premises of the agency’s client, we believe the purpose of FEHA to 
safeguard an employee’s right to hold employment without experiencing discrimination is best 
served by applying the traditional labor law doctrine of ‘dual employers,’ holding both the agency 
and the client are employers . . .”); Kowalski v. Shell Oil Co. (1979) 23 Cal.3d 168, 174-175 
(“Where an employer sends an employee to do work for another person, and both have the right 
to exercise certain powers of control over the employee, that employee may be held to have two 
employers -- his original or 'general'  employer and a second, the 'special' employer.’”; Faush v. 
Tuesday Morning, Inc., (3rd Cir. 2015) 808 F.3d 208, 215 (“Two entities may be ‘co-employers’ 
or ‘joint employers’ of one employee for purposes of Title VII.”)) 

 
In determining whether the client of a staffing agency will be considered an employer for 

purposes of anti-discrimination laws like FEHA, courts consider 
 

the totality of circumstances and analyze several factors, principal 
among them the extent of direction and control possessed and/or 
exercised by the employer over the employee. (Vernon v. State of 
California (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 114, 118 . . . . In the particular 
case of temporary staffing, factors under the contractual control of 
the temporary staffing agency (such as hiring, payment, benefits, 
and timesheets being handled by a temporary staffing agency) are 
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not given any weight in determining the employment relationship 
with respect to the contracting employer.  (Jimenez v. U.S. 
Continental Marketing, Inc. (2019) 41 Cal.App.5th 189, 193.)     

 
 “The key is that liability is predicated on the allegations of harassment or discrimination 
involving the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment under the control of the employer . . 
.” (Bradley v. Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1612, 1629.  
Bradley held that for purposes of FEHA the California Department of Corrections was an 
employer of an employee assigned to it by a medical registry because all of the allegations of 
illegal conduct related to matters under the Department’s control, not the registry’s. 
 
 Here, construing its allegations liberally with a view to substantive justice between the 
parties (Careau & Co. v. Security Pacific Business Credit, Inc. (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1371, 
1387), the FAC alleges that plaintiff was confronted with a toxic workplace from the moment she 
arrived at KCI’s premises.  KCI (not Robert Half) had no black employees.  (¶ 13.)  The 
discriminatory comments were made by KCI’s employees.  (¶ 14.)  Plaintiff was trained by a KCI 
employee.  (¶ 14.)  KCI, not Robert Half, made plaintiff do janitorial work rather than the 
administrative work for which she was hired.  (¶ 15.)   
 
 This describes the typical situation of traditional staffing agency and immediate client to 
whom it has assigned a worker, and sufficiently alleges the employment relationship with that 
client, whether or not it includes such legal conclusions as “joint employer” or “general 
employer” and “special employer.” 
 
 The cases that have ruled an employment relationship did not exist as a matter of law at 
the pleadings stage are those where the plaintiff pushed the boundaries and sought to hold 
someone liable other than the general employer’s immediate client.  For instance, in Jackson v. 
CEVA Logistics, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 215050, pp. 2, and 12-13 plaintiff was assigned to work 
at CEVA, but attempted to hold CEVA’s customer, Tesla, liable on the theory that CEVA owned 
its facility for the benefit of Tesla.  And in Vernon v. State of California (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 
114 plaintiff was a firefighter employed by the City of Berkeley, but he tried to sue the State for 
requiring that firefighters using respirators not have facial hair.  This is not a case that pushes 
the boundaries.  It does not require more facts to support the allegation that KCI was plaintiff’s 
employer for purposes of discrimination that occurred at KCI’s facility. 
 
 In arguing that no employment relationship existed, KCI offers facts that do not appear 
on the face of the complaint, such as that it did not offer a Human Relations function or typical 
employment handbooks to plaintiff.  (Opening Brief at 5:23-26.)  However, the court cannot 
consider facts not shown on the face of the complaint on a demurrer.  (Rea v. Blue Shield of 
California (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1223.) 
 

Further, even if alleged in the complaint, such facts would not disprove the employment 
relationship as a matter of law.  The determination whether there was an employment 
relationship must be made from a practical standpoint and after considering the totality of the 
circumstances.  (Jackson, supra, p. 10-11.)  Plaintiff did not need a Human Resources function 
from KCI.  She was not the one engaging in racial discrimination, but a victim of it.  Clearly, as 
between KCI and Robert Half, however, KCI was in the best position to prevent or rectify racial 
discrimination engaged in by its own direct employees on its premises directed towards a 
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temporary or special employee on its premises.  (See Bradley, supra.)  KCI may have an 
argument about whether it was an employer at summary judgment, when all the facts are 
known, but not on a pleadings challenge, where plaintiff’s factual allegations are presumed true 
even if implausible.  (See Opening Brief at 5:12; cf. Del E. Webb Corp. v. Structural Materials 
Co. (1981) 123 Cal.App.3d 593, 604.) 

 
 That KCI shared only plaintiff, and not all of Robert Half’s workers, as an employee is 

irrelevant.  (Opening Brief at 4:27; 5:19.)  Joint and special employment situations are decided 
on an employee-by-employee basis. 

 
 Finally, the test for whether an employment relationship existed here is the one set forth 
in Jimenez, supra, and not the narrower test for employer for purposes of unpaid minimum 
wages under Labor Code section 1194 set forth in Martinez v. Combs (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35, 
64-65. 

 

  

23.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-1405 
CASE NAME: IN RE: J.G. WENTWORTH ORIGINATIONS 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR APPROVAL FOR TRANSFER OF PAYMENT RIGHTS 
FILED BY J.G. WENTWORTH ORIGINATIONS, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Transferor to appear in person. Counsel may appear by CourtCall. 

 

  

24.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-1447 
CASE NAME: IN RE: VALERIA RUBIO 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The minor’s compromise is approved. The court will sign the orders provided. 

 

 

 
ADD-ON 

 

 

25.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSC17-01401 
CASE NAME: LAND HOME VS. GOLD STAR FINANCIAL 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 3RD Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY ERNESTO GOMEZ, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendants Gold Star Mortgage Financial Group, In. and Ernesto Gomez’s Demurrer to 
the Third Amended Complaint is overruled. Plaintiff has allege facts in the Third Amended 
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Complaint sufficient to constitute a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty against Gomez,   
aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty against Gold Star, and intentional interference with 
prospective economic advantage against Gomez and Gold Star.   
  
Background 
 
  Defendant Ernesto Gomez was first hired by Plaintiff Land Home Financial Services 
in 2008.  On or about May 1, 2016, Land Home and Gomez entered into a Loan Originator 
Employment Agreement and a Producing Branch Manager Addendum to the Loan Originator 
Employment Agreement, collectively referred to as the “LO Agreement.”  Under the LO 
Agreement, Plaintiff employed Gomez to originate loans and manage the Land Home branches 
in Modesto and Merced.    
    
 Defendant Gold Star allegedly recruited Gomez to manage its Central Valley operation 
in December 2016, while Gomez was still employed with Land Home.  Gomez accepted 
employment with Gold Star in June 2017.  Land Home alleges Gomez misappropriated its 
customer contact information and trade secrets as well as interfered with Land Home’s leases 
while still employed by Land Home. 
 
Demurrer 
 
 On June 2, 2021, the Court sustained the demurrer to the Plaintiff’s Fifth Cause of Action 
for Breach of Fiduciary Duty (against Gomez), Sixth Cause of Action for Aiding and Abetting 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty (against Gold Star), and Seventh Cause of Action for Intentional 
Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage (against all defendants) with leave to 
amend.  Plaintiff filed the Third Amended Complaint on June 23, 2021.  
 
 Defendants assert the amendments are insufficient to cure the defects.  Again, 
Defendants demur to each of these causes of action on the ground Plaintiff failed to state facts 
sufficient to constitute a cause of action (CCP § 430.10(e) and the pleading is uncertain, 
ambiguous or unintelligent as to these causes of action (CCP § 430.10(f)). 
 
Demurrer Standard 
 
 The limited role of a demurrer is to test the legal sufficiency of a complaint.  It raises 
issues of law, not fact, regarding the form or content of the opposing party's pleading.  
(Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 994.)  For purposes of a 
demurrer, all properly pleaded facts are admitted as true.  (Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 
2 Cal.4th 962, 967.)  On demurrer, the complaint must be liberally construed with a view to 
substantial justice between the parties.  (Code of Civil Procedure § 452.)  “If the complaint 
states a cause of action under any theory, regardless of the title under which the factual basis 
for relief is stated, that aspect of the complaint is good against a demurrer.” (Quelimane Co. v. 
Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 38.) 
   
Fifth Cause of Action (Breach of Fiduciary Duty-- Against Gomez) 
 
 The demurrer to the Fifth Cause of Action is overruled.   
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             Plaintiff alleges Gomez was the highest-level Land Home employee working in the 
Central Valley branches, in charge of Land Home’s presence in there.  Gomez had substantial 
managerial responsibility and Land Home placed its trust in Gomez as he exercised substantial 
discretionary authority in carrying out his duties. Plaintiff alleges that due to remote location from 
Land Home’s central management in Contra Costa, Land Home relied upon Gomez to serve its 
interest and thus Land Home was in a vulnerable position.  In the TAC, Plaintiff further alleges 
the Branch Manager Employment Agreement tasked Gomez with conducting the business of 
the branches.  In conducting the business, Gomez acted as Land Home’s agent.  Land Home 
placed trust in Gomez that he would act with the utmost good faith for the benefit of Land Home 
in managing its branches. Gomez exercised substantial discretionary authority in carrying out 
the business of Land Home (TAC, ¶11.)   Plaintiff also alleged Land Hand entrusted Gomez as 
it’s agent in negotiating leases for the branch offices.  Gomez was the point of contact and the 
landlord communicated through Gomez only.  (TAC, ¶27.)  
 
 “‘The elements of a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty are the existence of a 
fiduciary relationship, its breach, and damage proximately caused by that breach. [Citation.]’ 
[Citation]” (Knox v. Dean (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 417, 432.)     
 
 Defendants demur to this cause of action on the ground Plaintiff has not alleged facts 
establishing the existence of a fiduciary relationship. “‘[B]efore a person can be charged with a 
fiduciary obligation, he must either knowingly undertake to act on behalf and for the benefit of 
another, or must enter into a relationship which imposes that undertaking as a matter of law.’ 
[Citation.]”  (City of Hope National Medical Center v. Genentech, Inc. (2008) 43 Cal.4th 375, 
386.)  Defendants argue the mere existence of a contract does not create a fiduciary 
relationship.   (Oakland Raiders v. National Football League (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 621, 634.) 
Likewise, “The mere fact that in the course of their business relationships the parties reposed 
trust and confidence in each other does not impose any corresponding fiduciary duty in the 
absence of an act creating or establishing a fiduciary relationship known to law.” (Worldvision 
Enters. v. ABC (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 589, 595.) And there is no presumption of fiduciary 
relationship from employer and employee relationship.  (Odorizzi v. Bloomfield Sch. Dist. (1966) 
246 Cal.App.2d 123, 129.) 
 
 Defendants argue the contract must explicitly establish a fiduciary relationship or the 
following elements must be present to characterize the relationship as a fiduciary:  “‘1) The 
vulnerability of one party to the other which 2) results in the empowerment of the stronger party 
by the weaker which 3) empowerment has been solicited or accepted by the stronger party and 
4) prevents the weaker party from effectively protecting itself.’” (Persson v. Smart Inventions, 
Inc. (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 1141, 1161.)   
 
 Here, Defendants argue the Third Amended Complaint added some verbiage about 
Land Home being vulnerable because of the distance between the branch office in Central 
Valley office, where Gomez worked, and the home office in Contra Costa County.  Defendants 
maintain this allegation is insufficient because vulnerability “usually arises from advanced age, 
youth, lack of education, weakness of mind, grief, sickness, or some other incapacity.” (Richelle 
L. v. Roman Catholic Archbishop (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 257, 273.)  Defendants assert Land 
Home is a corporation more than capable of protecting itself.  
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 In the Opposition, Plaintiff argues it has alleged sufficient facts to plead a fiduciary 
relationship in that it has alleged Gomez and Land Home had an agent-principal relationship.     
Plaintiff asserts the TAC alleges an agency relationship at ¶¶ 11, 26, and 27. “The creation of an 
agency relationship is not dependent upon the existence of a written agreement. The 
relationship may be implied based on conduct and circumstances [citations], as well as by 
ratification. [Citations.]”  (Scholastic Book Clubs v. State Bd. of Equalization (1989) 207 
Cal.App.3d 734, 737-738.) Plaintiff argues Gomez owed a fiduciary duty as a matter of law.    
 
 Plaintiff argues that it is not relying on the provisions in Gomez’s contract that he owed a 
duty of loyalty nor is it relying solely on the entrustment of confidential information to Gomez.  
Plaintiff argues that combined circumstances set forth in the TAC show an agency relationship. 
Moreover, Plaintiff argues that Gomez acknowledged an agency relationship in his demurrer to 
the Second Amended Complaint.  Since Land Home has alleged an agency relationship, it 
argues it is unnecessary to allege vulnerability.  Additionally, Gomez is now estopped from 
arguing he was not an agent of Land Home, having argued he was an agent in the demurrer to 
the SAC.     
 
 In response, Defendants argue that Plaintiff merely planted the words “agent” and 
“agency” throughout the TAC, without any substantive allegations, which amounts to nothing 
more than a legal conclusion. Defendants argue that even if there were an agency relationship, 
the fiduciary duties depend on the parties’ agreement and the scope of the parties’ relationship.  
(See Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 394, 425.) 
 
 As to the claim that Defendants acknowledged Gomez was the agent for Land Home, 
Defendants claim they made the short argument in the opening brief of the demurrer to the SAC 
in the context that Gomez could not be liable for interference under the immunity rule.  
Defendants contend they dropped the argument in the reply brief. Defendants argue this does 
not constitute an “admission.”  But even if it’s an admission that Gomez was an agent of Land 
Home, it tells nothing about the existence or scope of the duties. 
 
 The Court finds the allegations in the TAC are sufficient to plead an agency relationship, 
and thus the existence of a fiduciary relationship. “There are two kinds of fiduciary duties--those 
imposed by law and those undertaken by agreement. [Citations.]  Fiduciary duties are imposed 
by law in certain technical, legal relationships such as those between partners or joint venturers, 
husbands and wives, guardians and wards, trustees and beneficiaries, principals and agents, 
and attorneys and clients.”  (Gab Bus. Servs. v. Lindsey & Newsom Claim Servs. (2000) 83 
Cal.App.4th 409, 416, internal citations omitted.)  An agent has a fiduciary duty to act loyally for 
the principal’s benefit in all matters connected with the agency relationship.  (Restatement Third 
of Agency, § 8.94.) Plaintiff alleges that Gomez, as its agent, knowingly acted against Land 
Home’s interests on behalf of a party whose interests were adverse to Land Home’s.  Plaintiff 
alleges it was harmed by Gomez’s breach of the fiduciary duty. Plaintiff has alleged facts 
sufficient to state a cause of action.   
 
Sixth Cause of Action (Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty—Against Gold Star) 
 
 Defendants’ demurrer to the Sixth Cause of Action is overruled. 
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            Plaintiff alleges that Gomez, as Land Home’s agent and producer, owed a fiduciary duty 
of loyalty.  Defendant Gold Star employed Gomez when it knew or had reason to know that 
Gomez was still employed by Plaintiff.  Moreover Gold Star knew Gomez improperly used Land 
Home’s resources, property and confidential information for the benefit of Gold Star. 
 
 “A defendant is liable for aiding and abetting another in the commission of an intentional 
tort, including a breach of fiduciary duty, if the defendant ‘knows the other's conduct constitutes 
a breach of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other to so act.’ 
[Citation.]”  (Nasrawi v. Buck Consultants LLC (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 328, 343, internal 
quotation marks omitted.)  “The elements of a claim for aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary 
duty are: (1) a third party's breach of fiduciary duties owed to plaintiff; (2) defendant's actual 
knowledge of that breach of fiduciary duties; (3) substantial assistance or encouragement by 
defendant to the third party's breach; and (4) defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in 
causing harm to plaintiff.  [Citation.]”  (Ibid.) 
 
  Defendants demur to the Sixth Cause of Action on the ground Plaintiff has not alleged 
facts sufficient to state a cause of action.   Defendants assert that Plaintiff has not alleged the 
existence of a fiduciary duty, thus the aiding and abetting claim necessarily fails. 
 
 Defendants’ challenge to this cause of action is based on the lack of a fiduciary 
relationship.  As discussed in the Fifth Cause of Action, Plaintiff has alleged facts sufficient to 
show an agency relationship between Gomez and Land Home, which as a matter of law is a 
fiduciary relationship.  The demurrer to the Sixth Cause of Action is therefore not well-taken.  
   
Seventh Cause of Action (Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage—All 
Defendants) 
 
 Defendants’ demurrer to the Seventh Cause of Action for Intentional Interference with 
Prospective Economic Advantage is overruled. 
 
 Plaintiff alleges it had prospective economic relationships with customers that had 
placed mortgages or financing through Plaintiff. Defendants knowingly and wrongfully interfered 
with those prospective economic relationships. Plaintiff alleges Defendants destroyed Land 
Home’s property, which deprived Land Home of its ability to identify its customers and their 
interest in refinancing their loans.  Also, Gomez interfered with Land Home’s leases. Plaintiff 
alleges that even though Gomez was Land Home’s agent, there is no immunity for his actions 
because he was acting in pursuit of personal interests as opposed to Land Home’s interest. 
 
 “Intentional interference with prospective economic advantage has five elements: (1) the 
existence, between the plaintiff and some third party, of an economic relationship that contains 
the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant's knowledge of the 
relationship; (3) intentionally wrongful acts designed to disrupt the relationship; (4) actual 
disruption of the relationship; and (5) economic harm proximately caused by the defendant's 
action.”(Roy Allan Slurry Seal, Inc. v. American Asphalt South, Inc. (2017) 2 Cal.5th 505, 512.) 
 
 Defendants demur to the Seventh Cause of Action on the ground the pleading fails to 
state a cause of action for several reasons. First, there are no allegations against Gold Star.  
Secondly, the claims are preempted by the California Uniform Trade Secret Act (“CUTSA”), 
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which includes a specific preemption provision.  (Civ. Code 3426.7.)  Section 3426.7 “implicitly 
preempts alternative civil remedies based on trade secret misappropriation.” (K.C. Multimedia, 
Inc. v. Bank of America Technology & Operations, Inc. (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 939, 954.)  
The gravamen of Plaintiff’s wrongful conduct alleged in the interference claim is based on the 
misappropriation of trade secrets—customer lists, compiled prospect lists, rate sheets, and 
customer loans.  The gravamen of the interference claim is based on the same nucleus of facts 
as the CUTSA claim.  Defendants argue the TAC added nothing new to the allegations.   
 
 As to the complaint alleging Gomez destroyed Land Home’s property, sabotaged Land 
Home’s ability to exercise its option for the Merced Lease, prevented Land Home from entering 
into the Modesto Lease, and solicited and hired two Land Home employees, Defendants argue 
these were breaches of Gomez’s contract with Land Home and the conduct cannot form the 
basis of an interference claim. Plaintiff alleged on information and belief that “Gomez destroyed 
mortgage loans and customers files instead of returning the property to Land Home in 
accordance with the LO Agreement.”  (TAC, ¶53.)  Likewise, Plaintiff alleges Gomez’s 
interference with Land Home’s leases were also breaches of the LO Agreement (TAC, ¶ 59.)  
“[A] breach of contract claim cannot be transmuted into tort liability by claiming that the breach 
interfered with the promisee’s business.”  (JRS Products, Inc. v. Matsushita Electric Corp. of 
America (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 168, 183.) 
 
  Additionally, Defendants argue Plaintiff failed to allege facts satisfying the wrongfulness 
prong.  Plaintiffs failed to allege how Gomez’s action with respect to the leases were wrongful, 
independent of its interfering character.  “California has required plaintiffs to show that a 
defendant has engaged in an independently, or inherently, wrongful act.” (Korea Supply Co. v. 
Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1161.) “It is this independent wrongfulness 
requirement that makes defendants' interference with plaintiff's business expectancy a tortious 
act.”  (Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1159.) 
 
 In opposition, Plaintiff argues its claim for interference is properly pled against both 
Gomez and Gold Star.  First, Plaintiff points out that Defendants failed to argue that there are no 
allegations against Gold Star in the previous demurrer and they should not be able to raise the 
argument now.  Secondly, plaintiff argues the claim for interference is not preempted by 
CUTSA.   Plaintiff argues that while some of Gomez’s conduct is encompassed by CUTSA, 
Gomez engaged in other wrongful conduct different from that supporting its trade secret claims.  
For instance, Gomez allegedly destroyed Land Home’s property and interfered with Land 
Home’s leases. 
 
 The Court finds that although Plaintiff’s misappropriation claims may be preempted, 
Plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts regarding Gomez’s interference with Land Home’s leases.  
Plaintiff alleges Gomez, after deciding to leave Land Home, intentionally did not exercise the 
lease option and negotiated a new lease for his own benefit. Gomez sought to put the lease in 
his name.  (TAC, ¶ 31.)  Plaintiff alleges Gomez sought to make himself a more attractive 
candidate to other mortgage companies if he could bring with him a local office.  (TAC, ¶ 29.)  
Then Gomez negotiated the lease for Gold Star, Land Home’s competitor, while still employed 
by Land Home.  (TAC, ¶ 35.)   
 
 Ordinarily, a general demurrer does not lie as to a portion of a cause of action, and if 
any part of a cause of action is properly pleaded, the demurrer will be overruled. (Fire Ins. 
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Exchange v. Superior Court (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 446, 452.)  The demurrer to the Seventh 
Cause of Action is overruled. 
    
Plaintiff’s Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 Pursuant to Evidence Code §§ 452(d) and 453, Plaintiff requests the Court to take 
judicial notice of the following: 
 

1. Exhibit A—Defendants’ admission that Gomez was an agent as set forth in the Demurrer 
to the SAC, p. 46, lines 24-27. 

 
The Court only takes judicial notice of the existence of this statement. 

 

 

 


